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TATES OF AMERICA,

EUNG CHOW, a/k/a “Raymond
'a “Hai Jai”, a/k/a “Shrimpboy”;
"EE, a/k/a Senator Leland Yee;
JIEH, a/k/a “Heng Nieh™;
“KSON;

J, a/k/a “Dragon Tin Loong Siu”;
U, a/k/a “Alan Shiu’;

T CHANTHAVONG, a/k/a “Joe,”

:)e”;

NG ME], a/k/a “Michael Mei”;
{ JAMELLE JACKSON,;
DARRELL SULLIVAN;

UN;

a/k/a “Andy Man Lai Li”;

JN, a/k/a “Leslie Yuncheung”;
‘AU, a/k/a “James Pau”;

O XHEN LIANG;

» GUI LIANG;

LTON;

JG MA, a/k/a “Ming Ma,” a/k/a

\’IG SO, a’/k/a “Hon So”;
ASTRANGELO;
[HINGSAVATH,;

E;

LING LIANG, a/k/a “Elaine

ONG YIU CHEN, a/k/a “Gary

1 “Jimmy,” a¢“Die d;
7 JOHN LA, a’k/a “AJ”;
) ZHANG;

O WU, a/k/a “Jason™;

ACKWELL HOUSE, a/k/a “Barry

Y LIM, a/k/a “Dr. Lim”;
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INDICTMENT

196
VIOLATIONS — C@B

18 U.S.C. § 1956 — Money Laundering;

18 U.S.C. § 922(a) — Dealing Firearms Without a
License;

18 U.S.C. § 922(1) — Illegal Importation of Firearms;
18 U.S.C. § 922(g) — Felon in Possession of
Firearm;

21 U.S.C. § 841 — Manufacture and Possession with
Intent to Distribute Narcotics;

21 U.S.C. § 846 — Narcotics Conspiracy;

18 U.S.C. § 924(c) — Possession of Firearm in
Furtherance of Drug Trafficking Crime;

18 U.S.C. § § 2342 & 2344 — Trafficking in
Contraband Cigarettes;

18 U.S.C. § 1958 — Murder for Hire;

18 U.S.C. § 371 — Conspiracy;

18 U.S.C. § 1349 — Honest Services Conspiracy;

18 U.S.C. § 1343, 1346 — Honest Services Fraud;
18 U.S.C. § 2 — Aiding And Abetting




INDICTMENT

The Grand Jury charges:
COUNT ONE: (18 U.S.C. § 1956(a)(3)(A) -- Money Laundering)

On or about April 12,2011, in the Northern District of California, the defendant,

KEVIN SIU,

with the intent to promote the carrying on of specified unlawful activity, did knowingly conduct and
attempt to conduct a financial transaction affecting interstate or foreign commerce involving property
represented by a law enforcement officer to be proceeds of specified unlawful activity and property used
to conduct or facilitate specified unlawful activity, to wit: accepting $44,000 in U.S. Currency in
exchange for sending a wire transfer of $40,000 from a financial institution account to an account of a

fictitious business.

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1956(a)(3)(A).

COUNT TWO: (18 U.S.C. § 1956(a)(3)(A) — Money Laundering)

On or about April 13, 2011, in the Northern District of California, the defendant,

GEORGE NIEH,

with the intent to promote the carrying on of specified unlawful activity, did knowingly conduct and
attempt to conduct a financial transaction affecting interstate or foreign commerce involving property
represented by a law enforcement officer to be proceeds of specified unlawful activity and property used
to conduct or facilitate specified unlawful activity, to wit: accepting $44,000 in U.S. Currency in
exchange for issuing three checks from financial institutions in the amount of $40,000 total.

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1956(a)(3)(A).

COUNT THREE: (18 U.S.C. § 1956(a)(3)(A) — Money Laundering)

On or about July 14, 2011, in the Northern District of California, the defendants,

RAYMOND CHOW and
GEORGE NIEH,
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>ach aided and abetted by the other, with the intent to promote the carrying on of specified unlawful
ictivity, did knowingly conduct and attempt to conduct a financial transaction affecting interstate or
foreign commerce involving property represented by a law enforcement officer to be proceeds of
specified unlawful activity and property used to conduct or facilitate specified unlawful activity, to wit:
issuing four checks from financial institutions in the amount of $120,000 total in exchange for $132,000
U.S. Currency.

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1956(a)(3)(A) and 2.

COUNT FOUR: (18 U.S.C. § 1956(a)(3)(A) — Money Laundering)

On or about August 1, 2011, in the Northern District of California, the defendants,

RAYMOND CHOW and
ALAN CHIU,

zach aided and abetted by the other, with the intent to promote the carrying on of specified unlawful
ictivity, did knowingly conduct and attempt to conduct a financial transaction affecting interstate or
foreign commerce involving property represented by a law enforcement officer to be proceeds of
specified unlawful activity and property used to conduct or facilitate specified unlawful activity, to wit:
accepting $33,000 in U.S. Currency in exchange for issuing four checks from a financial institution
‘otaling $30,000.

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1956(a)(3)(A) and 2.

COUNT FIVE: (21 U.S.C. § 846 — Narcotics Conspiracy)
On or about February 14, 2012, in the Northern District of California and elsewhere, the
lefendants,

GEORGE NIEH and
KONGPHET CHANTHAVONG,

<nowingly and intentionally combined, conspired, confederated and agreed together and with each
other, and with other persons known and unknown to the Grand Jury, to commit the following offense
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st the United States: to possess with intent to distribute and to distribute marijuana, a Schedule I
tic controlled substance, in violation of Title 21, United States Code, Section 841(a)(1).

All in violation of Title 21, United States Code, Sections 846 and 841(a)(1).

NT SIX: (18 U.S.C. § 371 — Conspiracy)
Between on or about December 13, 2011, through and including on or about March 13, 2012, in

orthern District of California, and elsewhere, the defendants,

RAYMOND CHOW,
GEORGE NIEH,
JANE LIANG,
TINA LIANG, and
BRIAN TILTON,

ingly and willfully conspired and agreed with each other and with others, known and unknown to

rand Jury, to commit offenses against the United States: that is,

) to receive, possess, store, sell, and dispose of property, that is, 50 cases of Hennessey XO
alcohol, of a value of $5,000 or more which had crossed a State boundary after being stolen and
subsequently brought into the State of California, knowing the same to have been stolen, in
violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 2315; and

) to transport, transmit, and transfer in interstate and foreign commerce from the State of
California to a location outside of the United States, stolen goods, wares and merchandise, that
is, 50 cases of Hennessey XO alcohol, of the value of $5,000 or more, knowing the same to have
been stolen, converted, and taken by fraud, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section
2314.

OVERT ACTS
In furtherance of the conspiracy and to effect the objects of the conspiracy, the following overt
mmong others, were committed in the Northern District of California and elsewhere:
On or about December 13, 2011, the defendant RAYMOND CHOW discussed selling stolen
liquor with an undercover employee;

On or about January 23, 2012, the defendants RAYMOND CHOW and GEORGE NIEH
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discussed selling stolen liquor with an undercover employee and indicated that defendant TINA
LIANG would arrange buyers in China; .

3. On or about January 25, 2012, the defendant GEORGE NIEH discussed selling stolen liquor
with an undercover employee;

4. On or about February 6, 2012, the defendant JANE LIANG discussed selling stolen liquor with
an undercover employee;

5. On or about February 16, 2012, the defendant RAYMOND CHOW discussed selling stolen
liquor to TINA LIANG with an undercover employee;

6. On or about March 5, 2012, the defendants GEORGE NIEH and TINA LIAN G met with an
undercover employee to discuss selling stolen liquor;

7. On or about March 9, 2012, the defendants TINA LIANG and BRYAN TILTON purchased
purportedly stolen liquor from an undercover employee.

8. On or about March 13, 2012, the defendant RAYMOND CHOW received payment for this
transaction.

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 371.

;OUNT SEVEN: (18 U.S.C. § 1956(a)(3)(A) — Money Laundering)

On or about May 16, 2012, in the Northern District of California, the defendants,

RAYMOND CHOW,
GEORGE NIEH,
JAMES PAU, and
LESLIE YUN,

ach aided and abetted by the other, with the intent to promote the carrying on of specified unlawful
ctivity, did knowingly conduct and attempt to conduct a financial transaction affecting interstate or
oreign commerce involving property represented by a law enforcement officer to be proceeds of
pecified unlawful activity and property used to conduct or facilitate specified unlawful activity, to wit:
ccepting $33,000 in U.S. Currency in exchange for sending two wire transfers totaling $30,000 from a
inancial institution to an account of a fictitious business.

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1956(a)(3)(A) and 2.
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EIGHT: (18 U.S.C. § 371 — Conspiracy)
ietween on or about June 20, 2012, through and including on or about September 19, 2012, in

1ern District of California, and elsewhere, the defendants,

RAYMOND CHOW,
GEORGE NIEH,
MING MA, and

HON SO,

ly and willfully conspired and agreed with each other and with others, known and unknown to
d Jury, to commit offenses against the United States: that is, to receive, possess, store, sell, and
f property, that is, 27 cases of Johnnie Walker Blue Label Scotch Whiskey alcohol, of a value
) or more, which had crossed a State boundary after being stolen and subsequently brought into
of California, knowing the same to have been stolen, in violation of Title 18, United States
ction 2315.

OVERT ACTS
1 furtherance of the conspiracy and to effect the objects of the conspiracy, the following overt
ng others, were committed in the Northern District of California and elsewhere:
n or about June 20, 2012, the defendant GEORGE NIEH discussed selling stolen liquor with an
adercover employee;
n or about June 27, 2012, the defendants GEORGE NIEH, MING MA and HON SO met at a
staurant so that MA and SO could purchase 12 cases of purportedly stolen Johnnie Walker
lue Label Scotch for $6,480;
n or about June 27, 2012, the defendant RAYMOND CHOW accepted payment for facilitating
ie liquor sale;
n or about July 19, 2012, the defendant GEORGE NIEH discussed selling stolen liquor with an
1dercover employee;
n or about August 16, 2012, the defendant GEORGE NIEH discussed selling stolen liquor with
1 undercover employee;
n or about September 8, 2012, the defendants GEORGE NIEH and MING MA discussed

lling stolen liquor with an undercover employee;
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-SEVEN: (18 U.S.C. 1958 — Murder for Hire)

August 28, 2013, in the Northern District of California and elsewhere, the

RINN ROEUN,
itionally combined, conspired, confederated and agreed with other persons known
Grand Jury, to use, and did use a facility of interstate commerce, and caused another
iterstate commerce with intent that the murder of Fictitious Victim 1 be committed
ws of California, as consideration for the receipt of, and as consideration for a
ent to pay, things of pecuniary value, to wit: $25,000 in U.S. Currency.
on of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1958.

EIGHT: (18 U.S.C. § 1956(a)(1)(A)(i) — Money Laundering)

September 9, 2013, in the Northern District of California and elsewhere, the

RAYMOND CHOW,
GEORGE NIEH,
ELAINE LIANG, and
SERGE GEE,

ed by the other, did knowingly conduct and attempt toi conduct a financial
 interstate and foreign commerce, to wit delivery of $203,000 U.S. Currency, which
1s of a specified unlawful activity, that is conspiracy to distribute and distribution of
n of Title 21, United States Code, Sections 846 and 841, with the intent to promote
recified unlawful activity, to wit: conspiracy to distribute and distribution of

n of 21 United States Code Sections 846 and 841, and that while conducting and

ct such financial transaction, knew that the property involved in the financial

ted the proceeds of some form of unlawful activity.

on of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1956(a)(1)(A)(1) and 2.
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-EIGHT: (21 U.S.C. § 846 — Narcotics Conspiracy)

1t February 20, 2014, in the Northern District of California and elsewhere, the

TINA LIANG and

BRIAN TILTON,
‘entionally combined, conspired, confederated, and agreed together and with each
her persons known and unknown to the Grand Jury, to commit the following offense
| States: to manufacture, to possess with intent to distribute and to distribute 100 or
lants, a Schedule I narcotic controlled substarice, in violation of Title 21, United States
L(@)(1)(B).
ation of Title 21, United States Code, Sections 846 and 841(a)(1)(B).

-NINE: (18 U.S.C. § 922(a)(1) — Dealing Firearms Without a License)
ut February 26, 2014, in the Northern District of California, the defendant,
RINN ROEUN,
ed dealer of firearms within the meaning of Chapter 44, Title 18, United States Code,
ge in the business of dealing in firearms.

ation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 922(a)(1)(A).

: (18 U.S.C. § 922(a)(1) — Dealing Firearms Without a License)
ut March 20, 2014, in the Northern District of California, the defendants,

KEITH JACKSON and
BARRY HOUSE,

etted by the other and not being a licensed dealer of firearms within the meaning of
18, United States Code, did willfully engage in the business of dealing in firearms.

ation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 922(a)(1)(A) and 2.
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INT FORTY-ONE: (18 U.S.C. § 922(g)(1) — Felon in Possession of Firearm)

On or about March 20, 2014, in the Northern District of California, the defendant,

BARRY HOUSE,

1g previously been convicted of an offense punishable by more than one year imprisonment, did
vingly possess in interstate and foreign commerce a firearm, that is, a .380 caliber Cobra FS380
-automatic pistol.

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 922(g)(1).

INT FORTY-TWO: (18 U.S.C. § 922(g)(1) — Felon in Possession of Firearm)

On or about March 20, 2014, in the Northern District of California, the defendant,

BARRY HOUSE,
1g previously been convicted of an offense punishable by more than one year imprisonment, did
vingly possess in interstate and foreign commerce a firearm, that is, a .223 caliber Aero Precision
rifle with an obliterated serial number.

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 922(g)(1).

INT FORTY-THREE: (18 U.S.C. § 1349 — Honest Services Conspiracy)

INTRODUCTORY ALLEGATIONS

1 times relevant to this indictment:

The Defendants, Relevant Individuals, and Entities

1. Defendant LELAND YEE (hereafter “YEE”) was an elected California State Senator
owed a fiduciary duty and a duty of honest services to the citizens of California, including his
tituents in the Eighth Senate District, which included San Mateo County and part of San Francisco
iy.

2. YEE was a candidate in the San Francisco mayoral election held on November 8,

. YEE did not win the election.

21
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: contributions to YEE’s mayoral campaign, including soliciting UCE-4599 to make

; of the $500 maximum individual donation amount set by law. UCE-4599 declined

>utions, but introduced JACKSON to his purported business associate, UCE-4773.

inning in or about September 2011, YEE and JACKSON solicited UCE-4773 to

ntributions to, and raise money for, YEE’s San Francisco mayoral campaign.

d UCE-4773 to make donations in excess of the $500 maximum individual donation
In response to solicitations for campaign donations by both YEE and JACKSON, on

1,2011, UCE-4773 provided JACKSON with a $5,000 personal check made payable

tancy.”

or about January 18, 2012, after losing the San Francisco mayoral campaign, YEE

3 to make additional donations toward, and raise money for, the retirement of the debt

al campaign. YEE also asked UCE-4773 to donate to YEE’s planned campaign for

y of State in the election to be held in 2014.

‘ing the next several months, JACKSON also solicited UCE-4773 to make donations

ZE’s debt from the mayoral campaign. In response to the solicitations from YEE and

bout April 27,2012, UCE-4773 mailed a $5,000 personal check to JACKSON.

>r about June 26, 2012, UCE-4773 introduced YEE to two individuals acting in an

y who were purportedly affiliated with UCE-4773’s software consulting company

UCE-4773 explained to YEE that he was seeking to position Well Tech to compete

-acts, including public grants and contracts, in the State of California. YEE discussed

>f State office might be of interest to UCE-4773 in furthering his goals for Well Tech.

mversation, YEE acknowledged UCE-4773’s “help with 5,000 and so on,” and asked

elp with another 10.”

ing a meeting between UCE-4773, YEE, and JACKSON on or about September 4,

"E-4773 that he needed to retire the $32,000 in debt from the mayoral race, could not

tary of State until the debt was reduced, and asked UCE-4773 to “do another 10.”

t he would need YEE to make a telephone call or two on behalf of Well Tech to the

nent. YEE agreed to make the call.
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On or about September 19, 2012, UCE-4773 spoke again with YEE and told YEE that he
*from YEE to the state health department on behalf of Well Tech. YEE agreed to write a
UCE-4773 to send him a draft.

On or about September 24, 2012, JACKSON and UCE-4773 spoke on the telephone, and
ain asked UCE-4773 for money to clear up YEE’s mayoral campaign debt. UCE-4773
N that he would do so once he received the letter on behalf of Well Tech from YEE. Ina
nversation, on September 26, 2012, JACKSON told UCE-4773 that YEE was more
iaking telephone calls than with putting things in writing.

On or about October 18, 2012, YEE and UCE-4773 spoke on the telephone and UCE-

d that an individual with the California Department of Public Health was considering Well
nt. UCE-4773 asked YEE to participate in a telephone call with UCE-4773 and this
vouch for Well Tech. YEE agreed to participate in the telephone call.

Later the same day, October 18, 2012, YEE participated in a conference call with UCE-
-4138. UCE-4138 was an undercover FBI agent posing as a staff services manager with
Department of Public Health who was considering Well Tech for a state grant. During the
ressed his familiarity with and support for Well Tech.

On or about November 19, 2012, UCE-4599 met with JACKSON at a restaurant in San
paid JACKSON $10,000 cash on behalf of UCE-4773. UCE-4599 asked about the letter
behalf of Well Tech that was still outstanding. JACKSON said the letter would be

On or about November 23, 2012, YEE had a conversation with a member of his State
out the $10,000 that had been received by the campaign from UCE-4773.

On or about January 13, 2013, JACKSON sent to UCE-4773 a letter dated January 11,
alifornia State Senate letterhead of “Senator Leland Y. Yee, Ph.D., Eighth Senate
letter, which appeared to be signed by YEE, was addressed to Well Tech and expressed
t for Well Tech’s expansion to California.

Involving a State Senate Proclamation for the Chee Kung Tong

During the November 19, 2012 meeting when UCE-4599 paid JACKSON the $10,000
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onation from UCE-4773, UCE-4599 and JACKSON discussed YEE’s remaining mayoral

ebt of $5,000. UCE-4599 asked JACKSON if he knew anyone who could assist CHOW in

JDW’s ankle monitoring device removed. JACKSON said he would ask YEE. UCE-4599

ON that he would pay off the remainder of the debt if YEE would assist CHOW.
JACKSON and YEE subsequently discussed UCE-4599°s request and offer. YEE

is knowledge of CHOW’s criminal reputation and told JACKSON that as much as he wanted

he could not agree to UCE-4599’s request.

JACKSON introduced YEE to UCE-4599 at a restaurant in San Francisco on or about
2013. UCE-4599 and YEE discussed CHOW and CHOW’s criminal reputation. UCE-4599
instead to provide an official proclamation to the Chee Kung Tong at an upcoming
of the Chee Kung Tong’s anniversary. YEE agreed to the request.

On or about February 14, 2013, JACKSON told UCE-4599 that YEE would be doing the
n for the Chee Kung Tong. UCE-4599 told JACKSON that he would provide YEE a check
ration or shortly thereafter.

On or about March 29, 2013, a staff member from one of YEE’s district offices appeared
Kung Tong anniversary celebration dinner in San Francisco and presented a framed
n on California State Senate letterhead to the Chee Kung Tong. The staffer said she was
esenting the proclamation from Senator YEE.

On or about May 1, 2013, JACKSON sent a text message to UCE-4599 telling him to
eck out to “Leland Yee. For Secretary of State.”

On or about May 6, 2013, UCE-4599 provided JACKSON with a $5,000 check made
‘Leland Yee Secretary of State.” During a phone conversation with UCE-4599 on or about
3, YEE thanked UCE-4599 for his donation.

During a telephone conversation between YEE and JACKSON on or about July 4, 2013,

ised his expectation that UCE-4599 would provide more money to the Secretary of State

On or about July 11, 2013, UCE-4599 provided JACKSON with a $1,800 check made

‘Leland Yee Secretary of State.”
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g also attended by JACKSON. YEE explained UCE-4180’s interest in certain

de medical marijuana legislation and expressed support for the issue of medical

e 22, 2013, YEE and JACKSON met with UCE-4180 in a hotel room in San

)0 delivered an envelope containing $11,000 cash and said that it was for the
enator 1. Before leaving the room, YEE prompted JACKSON to pick up the

with them.

1g a conversation between YEE and JACKSON on July 15, 2013, YEE complained
the small amount of money received from UCE-4180 “for all we’ve done,” and

t up the meeting for UCE-4180 with State Senator 1.

. JACKSON had a follow-up telephone conversation with UCE-4180 and asked for
180 expressed ¢oncern that he had not received much for his money thus far.
agust 26,2013, YEE introduced UCE-4180 to another State Senator, hereafter
enator 2, whom YEE represented as having influence over medical marijuana

DN was also present for the meeting. During the meeting, YEE advocated for the
0 wanted in the legislation.

eptember 17, 2013, JACKSON and UCE-4180 met YEE at a restaurant in San

30 told YEE he was paying for the meetings and handed an envelope containing
KSON.

on of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1349.

'OUR THROUGH FORTY-NINE: (18 U.S.C. § § 1343, 1346 — Honest Services
Fraud)

raphs 1 through 10 and paragraphs 13 through 48 of Count Forty-Two of this

y incorporated herein by reference into each of Counts Forty-Three through Forty-
ully herein.

r about the respective dates shown below, each such date constituting a separate

.ent, within the Northern District of California and elsewhere, the defendants,
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